(4) (4) ж.<sup>1</sup> г FILED SID J. WHITE JUN 29 1998 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA CLERK, SUPREME COURT 93,27 DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN By\_ Chief Deputy Clerk AND FAMILIES, Petitioner,

v.

5th DCA Case No. 97-1532

ROSHONDA KEYS GAINES, Respondent.

#### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

JAMES A SAWYER, JR. FLORIDA BAR NO 221031 DISTRICT LEGAL COUNSEL DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES 400 W. Robinson Street Suite S-1106 Orlando, Florida 32801 Phone: (407) 245-0530

##

# IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA FIFTH DISTRICT JANUARY TERM 1998

REI ) MAY 1 1998 NOT FINAL UNTIL THE TIME EXPIRES TO FILE REHEARING MOTION, AND, IF FILED, DIPPOSED OF,

ROSHONDA KEYS GAINES,

JOLG

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 97-1532

# DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN & FAMILIES,

Appellee.

Opinion filed May 15, 1998

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Orange County, Jose Rodriguez, Judge.

Ava Tunstall and Pauline McIntyre of McIntyre & Tunstall, P.A., Maitland, for Appellant

Alita S. Chappell and James A. Sawyer, District Legal Counsel of Department of Children & Families, Orlando, for Appellee.

THOMPSON, J.,

Roshonda Keys Gaines appeals an order terminating her parental rights to her boys, T.K., W.K. and L.K.<sup>1</sup> We agree that the trial court properly terminated the

1AIMAIGA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Each child has a different father other than her husband, Antonio Gaines, and none of the fathers appealed the order terminating their parental rights. Antonio Gaines

parental rights as to the older boys, T.K. and W.K. The Department of Children and Families ("DCFS") proved by clear and convincing evidence that Roshonda Gaines had physically abused T.K. and W.K., and had failed to substantially comply with a performance plan entered after the children had been adjudicated dependent. These are sufficient reasons to sever the parent and child relationship <u>Santosky v. Kramer</u>, 455 U.S. 745 (1982); <u>Fredrick v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services</u>, 523 So. 2d 1164 (Fla. 5th DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 531 So. 2d 1353 (Fla. 1988); <u>Spankie v.</u> <u>Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services</u>, 505 So. 2d 1357 (Fla. 5th DCA), <u>rev.</u> <u>denied</u>, 513 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1987); <u>In the Interest of L.T.</u>, 464 So. 2d 201 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985). We disagree, however, that the state showed by clear and convincing evidence that the trial court should terminate the parental rights as to the youngest boy, L.K. Further, we, hold there was insufficient evidence even to find that L.K. was dependent.

The trial court declared the two older boys dependent in March of 1993 and placed them into foster care after the police discovered the children at 8:30 a.m. running around in their diapers on a busy street in front of Roshonda Gaines' apartment. The police found her in the apartment intoxicated. Several neighbors told the police that the two children frequently wandered into the street without parental supervision. The

is the legal father of L.K. but he is not the natural father. He married Roshonda when she was pregnant with L.K. They have one child together, a girl, who has not been adjudicated dependent.

mother agreed to a performance plan for the return of the children. Eventually, DCFS filed the initial termination petition in April of 1994, on the basis that the parents of T.K. and W.K. had abused and neglected the two boys by their failure to substantially comply with the performance agreement/permanent placement plans. Later, DCFS altered the status of the case by changing the goal from termination to reunification. The children had remained in foster care for three years while the mother tried to comply with the performance agreements for return of her children. Because the mother had complied with 90% of the goals of the performance agreement, DCFS allowed the children unsupervised home visits in 1996 to further reunification. After a weekend visit, the mother and her new husband, Antonio Gaines, were arrested and eventually convicted on the charges of aggravated child abuse.

DCFS filed a second petition to terminate parental rights alleging that the parents had physically abused the two older boys during the home visit by beating them with a belt and wooden clothes hanger, causing them to have numerous lesions on their thighs, buttocks and lower extremities. A dependency petition as to L.K. was filed alleging that there were no known relatives or non-relatives to care for him while the parents were in jail. DCFS developed a revised performance plan for the return of the children, including L.K., but gave the mother only one month to comply with the plan. DCFS also amended the second termination petition to add L.K. The petition alleged that allowing him to continue to live in the home environment would result in a danger that his physical or emotional health would be significantly impaired. Although L.K. had lived with his mother and had never been physically or emotionally abused by her or Antonio Gaines during the time the two older boys were in foster care, he was removed after his brothers' beatings only because DCFS alleged there was no one to care for him.<sup>2</sup> The revised termination petition also alleged that all three boys remained at risk for further abuse and neglect if placed with the parents. The trial court scheduled a termination hearing, adjudicated L.K. dependent and terminated the parental rights as to all three children, stating:

The court finds that there has been no significant effort by the mother to complete the tasks in her Performance Agreement/Permanent Placement Plan/Case Plan. In fact, the children were re-abused after the Department determined that the mother had substantially complied with the original Plan and reunification efforts in the form of unsupervised visitation weekend visits were in effect; that history coupled with the mother's failure to subsequently comply with the subsequent case plan offered in this case leads to the court's finding that reunification with the mother would place the children [W.K., T.K. and L.K.] at significant risk for abuse.

The termination of parental rights involves a fundamental liberty interest protected by the federal and state constitutions. <u>In the Interest of R., Children</u>, 591 So. 2d 1130 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). To justify a termination the state must show by clear

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>During court proceedings, there was testimony that relatives of L.K. were available to care for the child but that they did not know about his placement in shelter care when his mother was arrested.

and convincing evidence that the parent abused, neglected or abandoned the child or that the child is at substantial risk of future abuse, neglect or abandonment. <u>Id</u>. Subsection 39.464(1), Florida Statutes (1995), provides:

(1). The Department . . . or any person who has knowledge of the facts alleged or is informed of said facts and believes that they are true, may petition for the termination of parental rights under any of the following circumstances:

\* \* \*

(c) When the parent or parents engage in conduct toward the child or toward other children that demonstrates that the continuing involvement of the parent or parents in the parent child relationship threatens the life or well-being of the child irrespective of the provision of services. Provision of services is evidenced by proof that services were provided through a previous plan or offered as a case plan from a child welfare agency.

(d) When the parent or parents engaged in egregious conduct that endangers the life, health, or safety of a child or the child's sibling, or have the opportunity and capability to prevent egregious conduct that threatened the life, health, or safety of the child or the child's sibling and knowingly failed to do so.

\*

2. As used in this subsection, the term "egregious abuse" means conduct of the parent or parents that is deplorable, flagrant, or outrageous by a normal standard of conduct. Egregious abuse may include an act or omission that occurred only once but was of such intensity, magnitude or severity as to endanger the life of the child.

- 5 -

(e) A petition for termination of parental rights may also be filed when a child has been adjudicated dependent, a case plan has been filed with the court, and the child continues to be abused, neglected or abandoned by the parents. In this case the failure of the parents to substantially comply for a period of 12 months after an adjudication of a child as a dependent child constitutes evidence of continuing abuse. neglect or abandonment, unless the failure to substantially comply with the case plan was due either to lack of financial resources of the parents or the failure of the department to make reasonable efforts to reunify the family. Such 12 month period may begin to run only after the entry of a disposition order placing the custody of the child with the department or a person other than the parent and the subsequent filing with the court of a case plan with a goal of reunification with the parent.

(Emphasis added).

After a review of the record, we find no basis to terminate parental rights as to L.K. DCFS presented no evidence that L.K. had been emotionally or physically abused while he lived with Roshonda and Antonio Gaines. Further, DCFS never offered Roshonda Gaines an opportunity to abide by a performance agreement for a period of at least 12 months. See § 39.464(a)(e), Fla. Stat. Thus, the only justifiable ground to sustain termination as to L.K. is through a finding of prospective neglect, abuse or abandonment. The state has not met its burden to show prospective abuse.

In <u>Padgett v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services</u>, 577 So. 2d 565 (Fla. 1991), the Florida Supreme Court wrote that it is appropriate for courts to terminate the parental rights of children that have not been abused or neglected where such children have either a sibling or siblings that have been abused or neglected. The

- 6 -

court wrote:

In sum, to require a child to suffer abuse in those cases where mistreatment is eventually assured is illogical and directly adverse to society's fundamental policy of preserving the welfare of its growth.

Padgett at 50. This court has also upheld termination of parental rights based upon prospective abuse. Atwell v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services, 675 So. 2d 1030 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996); <u>Richmond v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative</u> <u>Services</u>, 658 So. 2d 176 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995); <u>Williams v. Department of Health &</u> <u>Rehabilitative Services</u>, 648 So. 2d 841 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995); <u>Palmer v. Department of</u> <u>Health & Rehabilitative Services</u>, 547 So. 2d 981 (Fla. 5th DCA), <u>cause dismissed</u>, 553 So. 2d 1166 (Fla. 1989). However, we have held that there must be a showing in the record that the behavior of the parent was beyond the parent's control, likely to continue and placed the child at risk. <u>Denson v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services</u>, 661 So. 2d 934, 936 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995); <u>In the Interest of T.D.</u>, 537 So. 2d 173 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). Examples include a parent who was addicted to drugs, <u>Williams</u>, or who was an untreatable pedophile, <u>Palmer</u>, or who suffered from mental illness, <u>Richmond</u>. None of those factors are present in this case.

DCFS argued that the boys of Roshonda Gaines are at risk because she is an uncontrollable parent and will probably abuse her children because she has abused them in the past. Further, it impliedly argued that she would not protect the boys if they were abused by her new husband, Antonio Gaines. The arguments fail, however, because Roshonda has never abused L.K. or his half sister, baby girl Gaines. In fact, DCFS has never filed a dependency petition for baby girl Gaines, though the facts that caused a dependency petition in L.K.'s case would be the same in the case of baby girl Gaines. DCFS argued at oral argument that L.K. is at risk because he is a boy, and as he gets older it is likely that Antonio Gaines might abuse him because Gaines is not the natural father. It also argued that Gaines would not abuse baby girl Gaines because she is his daughter. See Tolley v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services, 667 So. 2d 480 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996). The arguments are unsupported by any lay testimony presented to the trial court let alone by expert testimony. DCFS cannot have it both ways: it cannot argue that Roshonda Gaines is an uncontrollable parent who will hurt all of her children, yet allow a child to remain in her care without supervision from the DCFS.

We, therefore, affirm the termination as to the T.K. and W.K., but we reverse as to L.K. Based upon this record, we also reverse the finding of his dependency, since the sole basis was prospective abuse. There was no nexus between the prior abuse of L.K.'s brothers and the allegation of prospective abuse against L.K. <u>Eddy v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services</u>, 704 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998); <u>Tolley</u>, 667 So. 2d at 481; <u>Denson</u>, 661 So. 2d 934 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

Finally, it is clear the termination is not the least restrictive means of protecting the child. L.K. was adjudicated dependent and Roshonda Gaines' parental rights were terminated on the same day. In the petition for dependency and the petition for termination of parental rights, DCFS acknowledges that no voluntary services had been provided to the family to protect L.K. because they were not "appropriate . . . due to the prior adjudication of the siblings, and the mother and legal father's arrests and incarceration." The parents have since been released from jail and are living as a family with Baby Girl Gaines. Assuming for a moment the finding of dependency was valid, pursuant to section 39.41, Florida Statutes, the court at least should have considered providing services to the family or placing L.K. with an adult relative who was willing to care for the child before proceeding with the termination of parental rights.

Judgment terminating parental rights as to T.K. and W.K. AFFIRMED; judgment finding L.K. dependent and terminating parental rights as to L.K. REVERSED, and REMANDED for further proceedings.

DAUKSCH, J., concurs. PETERSON, J., dissents with opinion. PETERSON, J., dissenting.

I respectfully dissent. Section 39.464(1), Florida Statutes (1995) allows the trial court to terminate parental rights when a parent engages in conduct that threatens the life, health or safety of a child's sibling. The majority acknowledges that the mother is incapable of parenting two of her older children by terminating parental rights to them, but disagrees with the trial judge that the youngest male child, L.K., because of the mother's propensities, is potentially exposed to the same ill-treatment experienced by his siblings. I agree with the trial judge that L.K. should not be exposed to the dangers of mistreatment, and disagree with the majority that no action is appropriate unless, or until, L.K. also falls victim to similar acts and omissions by his mother. *See Padgett v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services*, 577 So. 2d 565 (Fla. 1991) (the permanent termination of a parent's rights in one child under circumstances involving abuse or neglect may serve as grounds for permanently severing the parent's rights in a different child).

The dependency of L.K., at the very least, should be affirmed, in order to allow the Department of Children and Families to monitor L.K.'s future treatment by his mother and to require her to enter a performance agreement that would address issues of proper child raising. I do hope that my dissent will not be ignored by the mother and that she will recall it before repeating the conduct that cost her two of her most precious gifts.

# PADGETT V. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES 577 So.2d 565, 16 Fla. L. Weekly 229 (Fla. 1991)

Headnotes	•	Opinion	٠	CasesCitingThisCase
-----------	---	---------	---	---------------------

Thomas **PADGETT**, Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES, Respondent.

# Mary Hartline **PADGETT**, Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES, Respondent.

Nos. 74357, 74358.

Supreme Court of Florida.

March 28, 1991.

## **SYNOPSIS**

Father appealed from order of the Circuit Court, Lake County, G. Richard Singletary, J., which terminated parental rights. The District Court of Appeal affirmed, 543 So.2d 1317, and certified question of whether termination of parent's rights in one child can support severing of parent's rights in another. The Supreme Court, Shaw, C.J., held that permanent termination of a parent's rights in one child under circumstances involving abuse and neglect may serve as grounds for permanently severing parent's right in a different child.

Decision approved.

Barkett, J., concurred specially and filed an opinion in which Kogan, J., concurred.

# **HEADNOTES**

### 1. INFANTS @== 155

211 ----

211VIII Dependent, Neglected, and Delinquent Children

211VIII(B) Subjects and Grounds

211k154 Dependent and Neglected Children; Conflict with Parental Rights

211k155 Termination of parental rights or other permanent action.

Fla. 1991.

Statute permits termination of parental rights based on prior termination of parental

rights in other children; child need not have suffered mistreatment before the courts can act. West's F.S.A. §§ 39.001, 39.002, 39.464.

## 2. CONSTITUTIONAL LAW @== 82(10)

92 ----

92V Personal, Civil and Political Rights
92k82 Constitutional Guaranties in General
92k82(6) Particular Rights, Limitations, and Applications
92k82(10) Marriage, sex, and family; obscenity.
Formerly 211k154
[See headnote text below]

## 2. INFANTS @== 154.1

211 ----

211VIII Dependent, Neglected, and Delinquent Children
211VIII(B) Subjects and Grounds
211k154 Dependent and Neglected Children; Conflict with Parental Rights
211k154.1 In general.

Fla. 1991.

Parent's interest in maintaining parental ties is essential, but child's entitlement to environment free of physical and emotional violence at the hands of his or her most trusted caretaker is more so, and state has compelling interest in protecting all citizens, especially a child, against the clear threat of abuse, neglect, and death.

## 3. INFANTS @== 178

211 -----

211VIII Dependent, Neglected, and Delinquent Children

211VIII(C) Evidence

211k175 Weight and Sufficiency

211k178 Termination of parental rights.

Fla. 1991.

Before parental rights in child can be permanently and involuntarily severed, state must show by clear and convincing evidence that reunification with the parent poses a substantial risk of significant harm to the child and implicit in that standard is the basic requirement that, under ordinary circumstances, the state showed that the parent abused, neglected, or abandoned the child. West's F.S.A. § 39.464.

## 4. INFANTS @== 156

211 ---211VIII Dependent, Neglected, and Delinquent Children
211VIII(B) Subjects and Grounds
211k156 Deprivation, neglect, or abuse.

Fla. 1991.

. .

Termination of parent's right in one child under circumstances involving abuse or neglect may serve as grounds for permanently severing the parent's rights in a different child without violating parent's constitutional rights. West's F.S.A. § 39.464.

#### COUNSEL

[\*565] Lawrence J. Semento of Lawrence J. Semento, P.A., Mount Dora, for petitioner, Thomas <u>Padgett</u>.

Mark A. Nacke of Michael H. Hatfield P.A., Umatilla, for petitioner, Mary Hartline **Padgett**.

Linda K. Harris, Deputy Gen. Counsel, Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services, Tallahassee, for respondent.

#### **OPINION**

SHAW, Chief Justice.

We have for review <u>Padgett</u> v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services, 543 So.2d 1317, 1318 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), in which the district court certified the following: "[W]e ... certify the question of "prospective" abuse, neglect or abandonment under Chapter 39 to be one of great public importance...." We have jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const. Because we find the term "prospective" abuse, neglect or abandonment to be misleading and inapplicable to the present [\*566] cases, (FN1) we rephrase the question as follows:

WHETHER PRIOR TERMINATION OF A PARENT'S RIGHTS IN ONE CHILD CAN SUPPORT THE SEVERING OF THE PARENT'S RIGHTS IN ANOTHER CHILD.

We answer in the affirmative under conditions explained below. We approve the district court decision.

Two years before W.L.P. was born, five children born to Thomas <u>Padgett</u> during a previous marriage were committed to the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services (HRS) for adoption based in part on the following findings involving four of the children:

5. Dr. Myron A. Harvey, Ph.D., a licensed clinical psychologist, evaluated [the four <u>**Padgett**</u> children] during July, 1981, and he has been involved in psychological therapy with those children up to the present date. Dr. Harvey testified that at the time of his evaluation, each of the four (4) <u>**Padgett**</u> children he examined manifested emotional and behavioral disorders, together with a low level of intelligence functioning.

6. Dr. Harvey further testified that in his opinion, the emotional disorders and low I.Q. of the <u>Padgett</u> children were the result of their living in a deprived environment devoid of learning stimuli and emotional contact. He further testified that the <u>Padgett</u> children have shown substantial improvements in both intelligence level and behavior since they began living in the structured environment of the Florida Baptist Children's

## Home.

9. Thomas William <u>Padgett</u>, former husband of [the children's natural mother], testified that on approximately four (4) occasions during their marriage, the children's natural mother would leave the marital home and abandon the children with the father. During those absences which lasted several weeks, the mother would not visit with or otherwise contact the children. Thomas William <u>Padgett</u> further testified that on several occasions when he returned home from work he found some or all of his children bound at the wrists and tied to the furniture and their mother not being present.

The court concluded that the children were dependent due to the extreme neglect of Thomas as well as his wife. Dr. Harvey later testified in the instant proceeding that two of the children showed signs of sexual abuse.

The year before W.L.P. was born, Mary <u>**Padgett**</u> gave birth to a child that promptly was placed in HRS custody and was permanently committed for adoption on the following grounds:

3. The child has been in the custody of the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services since June 1, 1984, shortly following her birth. She was taken into custody by the Department on or about that date after the Department was notified by hospital authorities that the mother was "poking" her newborn child and displaying other inappropriate conduct with the child.

4. Dr. Frank Carrera, a psychiatrist in Gainesville, Florida, performed a psychiatric evaluation on the mother on August 30, 1984, which included a detailed review of her prior psychiatric history. [\*567] Dr. Carrera testified that the child's mother is a chronic schizophrenic and he traced a history of numerous psychiatric hospitalizations of the mother for schizophrenia over the past several years.

5. Dr. Carrera further testified that the treatment prognosis for the mother was very poor and that, in his opinion, the mother would never be able to effectively parent her child.

On December 12, 1985, two days after W.L.P. was born, HRS filed a petition for detention of W.L.P. based on the fact that Mary **Padgett** 1) had recently given birth to a child who was placed in HRS custody, 2) was receiving mental health care, and 3) had tried to perform an abortion on herself with a pair of scissors to prevent the birth of W.L.P. The trial court entered a dependency detention order on the same day and subsequently placed W.L.P. in the care of the maternal grandmother. On September 27, 1986, the court issued an amended order of dependency, finding both parents unfit and placing the child in foster care. The parents and HRS signed a performance agreement, whereby HRS agreed that W.L.P. would be returned if the parents could demonstrate sufficient parenting ability after undergoing psychotherapy and attending parenting classes.

Dr. Hobey subsequently conducted a final evaluation of the Padgetts; she testified as follows:

Q. Dr. Hobey, based on all of your evaluations, your clinical interviews, your testing procedures and your observations of the parents with the child, were you able to

Copyright © West Group 1998. No claim to original U.S. Govt. works.

formulate an opinion as to the Padgetts' fitness or ability to parent this child that you observed them with, []?

A. Yes, I had extremely grave concerns about the Padgetts' capacity to parent their child in any way resembling adequate fashion. I just don't think they're able to do that.

Q. What was the basis for that opinion, can you explain to the Court?

A. Yes, the basis for this is, I think that they are so--they have so few emotional and cognitive resources of their own, that's one thing. They are very much people who are into their own needs and their own wishes, and I think that they are incapable to recognize the needs and the desires and the abilities of a young child.

I think the things they do with their baby reflect their own needs, rather than being sensitive to the baby's needs.

I think that their expectations for children are absolutely unrealistic. They have absolutely no sense at all what kinds of behaviors are appropriate for a child. I think they are not capable of learning what these behaviors might be.

Q. Do your findings translate, in any way, into a risk of abuse or risk that they would be abusive parents of the child?

A. I think the risk is very high that they would be very abusive.

Q. With both Mary **<u>Padgett</u>** and Tom <u>**Padgett**</u>?

A. Yes, both Mary **Padgett** and Tom **Padgett**.

Q. What about either of them individually? Did your findings support that either of them individually could parent this child effectively?

A. No.

Q. Dr. Hobey, if you were attempting to prescribe a treatment program for these parents whereby they could overcome their pathologies and become effective parents, do you think you could do that?

A. I don't think I could do that, no.

Q. Why not?

A. I don't think that the Padgetts are really able to engage with a therapist. I don't think that they're sensitive to the fact that they have real problems. I don't think that they are at all able to look at themselves, toward being insightful. In short, I don't think they are capable of learning what they need to learn. We're not talking about a few simple skills that could be acquired in a parenting class. We're talking about long-standing personality problems, which are not treatable.

[\*568] Dr. Hobey noted that her conclusions were unrelated to the Padgetts' intelligence levels; (FN2) in her opinion, persons of limited intelligence can be perfectly capable parents.

While the permanent commitment proceeding was pending in the instant cases, two separate incidents took place involving Mary. First, she staged a bizarre "fake rape," in which she abused herself with a hairbrush and then reported to officers that she had been bound and raped by a neighbor. Second, she sexually abused a four-year-old girl who was in her care. The policeman who responded to the call concerning the child testified that when he arrived at Mary's home, he found the girl lying on the bed on a bloody towel, bleeding from her vaginal area. The pediatrician who examined the child found that her internal genitalia had been lacerated and bruised by the penetration of a blunt object, such as a dull knife or a broomstick, with strong force. Mary pled guilty to aggravated child abuse and was placed on probation for five years. As a condition of her probation, she is prohibited from having contact with minor children unless another adult is present.

Based on evidence of the foregoing, the circuit court in the present proceeding issued a final order on August 16, 1988, permanently committing W.L.P. to HRS for adoption, finding as follows:

[] The Court finds that there is a substantial likelihood of future abuse and neglect of the child if [the child] were to be returned to the custody of [the] parents. The Court further finds that there are no less restrictive alternatives available other than the permanent commitment of the child to the Department for subsequent adoption, and that it is in the manifest best interest of the child that [the child] be permanently committed to the Department for subsequent adoption.

The district court affirmed but certified the question of whether prospective abuse, neglect or abandonment can serve as grounds for terminating parental rights.

The Padgetts assert that prospective mistreatment cannot support permanent termination of parental rights because no statute so provides. Mary contends that prospective abuse is based on speculation and is equivalent to jailing someone based on the belief that he "would have" committed a crime. Thomas claims that this is a social issue involving a fundamental liberty interest and must be left to the legislature. Courts, he says, simply cannot predict who will be a "bad" parent. Both Mary and Thomas claim that even if the concept of prospective abuse is valid, the evidence here is insufficient.

[1] Initially, we decline to use the term "prospective" abuse or neglect to characterize the issue presented in the present cases. The mistreatment that was asserted by HRS as grounds for terminating the Padgetts' parental rights was actual, not prospective, and resulted in the permanent termination of their parental rights in other children: Mary was found to have been "poking" and displaying other inappropriate behavior toward a newborn and recently pled guilty to damaging the sexual organs of a four-year-old. Thomas was found to have seriously neglected five children and to have acquiesced in their severe abuse at the hands of his former wife. The real question posed here is whether this prior termination of parental rights in other children can serve as grounds for permanently severing the Padgetts' rights in the present child. To answer this question, we must determine first whether statutory or other authority exists to sustain such a practice, and second whether the practice violates constitutional principles.

General authority supporting the practice of terminating parental rights based on prior abuse or neglect of other children is found in the legislative intent underlying enactment of the Florida Juvenile Justice Act (FN3) (the Act). The legislature has provided that the Act is to be liberally construed to effect its stated purpose of guaranteeing [\*569] the child a safe and nurturing environment free from the prospect of abuse or neglect:

39.001 Short title, purposes, and intent.--

(3) It is the intent of the Legislature that this chapter be liberally interpreted and construed in conformity with its declared purposes.

39.002 Legislative intent.--It is a goal of the Legislature that the children of this state be provided with the following protections:

(1) A permanent and stable home.

(2) A safe and nurturing environment which will preserve a sense of personal dignity and integrity.

(3) Adequate nutrition, shelter, and clothing.

••••

(5) Protection from abuse, neglect, and exploitation.

§§ 39.001, .002, Fla.Stat. (1987). The Act expressly authorizes the practice where prior attempts at rehabilitation have failed:

39.464 Elements of procedures for termination.--

••••

#### (2) EXTRAORDINARY PROCEDURES .--

(a) Whenever it appears that the manifest best interests of the child demand it, the state may petition for termination of parental rights without offering a performance agreement or permanent placement plan to the parents....

(b) The state may petition under this subsection only under the following circumstances:

••••

2. Severe or continuous abuse or neglect of the child *or other children* by the parent that demonstrates that the parent's conduct threatens the life or well-being of the child regardless of the provision of services as evidenced by having had services provided through a previous performance agreement or permanent placement plan.

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