FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 13 1998

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FLA. DEPT. OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES,
Petitioner,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 93,275 (DCA No. 97-1532)

ROSHONDA KEYS GAINES,,
Respondent.

_____ /

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

AVA TUNSTALL, ESQ.
Florida Bar. No.: 379001
MCINTYRE & TUNSTALL, P.A.
540 E. Horatio Ave., Suite 101
Maitland, FL 32751
Phone: (407) 599-9171

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

The respondent concurs with the facts presented by the petitioner except for recitation of the holding. The Fifth District Court of Appeal found the state did not show by clear and convincing evidence that the trial court should have terminated the parental rights of the third boy because the state had not met its burden to show prospective abuse. In entering the reversal, the DCA said there must be a showing in the record that the behavior of the parent was beyond the parent's control, likely to continue and placed the child at risk. The DCA ruling is not in conflict with Padgett v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 577 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1991).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

While this court has authority as the highest court of the state to resolve legal conflicts created by the district courts of appeal, said opinions must “expressly and directly” conflict with a decision of another DCA or of this court on the same question of law. In the case at bar, conflict with Padgett v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 577 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1991) was neither expressed nor implied. In contrast to conflicting with it, the decision below acknowledged Padgett and followed this Court’s ruling therein. DCF disingenuously looks to dicta in an attempt to create a conflict where none exists. In short, the DCA properly reversed the trial court because “the state failed to meet its burden of showing prospective abuse” as required by Padgett. (Slip opinion p. 6) Without any express and direct conflict, there is no resolution needed by the Florida Supreme Court and jurisdiction should not attach.

ARGUMENT

The crux of any argument on conflict jurisdiction is whether the decision of a district court of appeal expressly and directly conflicts with that of another district court or this Court. The DCF alleges conflict between the case at bar and Padgett v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 577 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1991). The Department is wrong. There is no express and direct conflict between the district court's opinion below in Gaines v. DCF and this Court's opinion in Padgett. It is not enough to contend, as does the DCF, that a labyrinthine interpretation of a lower court opinion might create a conflict. A district court of appeal decision is reviewable only if the conflict can be demonstrated from the opinion itself. That is not the case here. As the opinion in question clearly stated, the Fifth DCA consistently has recognized, upheld and properly applied the holding in Padgett (Slip opinion p. 7) and it did so here, too.

In Padgett, this Court found that a prior termination of a parent's rights in one child can support the severing of the parent's rights in another child "under conditions explained" in the case. (Padgett at 565). Even a cursory look at the "conditions" in Padgett show there is perfect alignment between this Court's holding therein and the district court opinion in Gaines.

The abuse in Padgett was repeated and extreme; the mother had a mental illness (chronic schizophrenia) and neither parent was capable of learning appropriate behavior. Expert testimony found the mother had a long-standing personality problem that was not treatable and there was a very high risk of future abuse. (Padgett at 567). Consistent with the holding in Padgett, the Fifth District Court recapitulated the logic behind the holding by saying in Gaines there must be a showing in the record that the behavior of the parent was beyond the parent's control, likely to

continue and placed the child at risk. (Slip opinion p.7) The DCF contends such language conflicts with Padgett. The DCF is incorrect. The language is entirely consistent. Indeed, if there need be *no* showing that the behavior of the parent was beyond the parent's control, likely to continue and placed the child at risk, then any single incident of abuse or neglect automatically would necessitate termination of parental rights for all children of an accused parent, including those after-born.

The DCF takes the phrase "beyond the parent's control" and speciously claims this language conflicts with Padgett saying if child abuse is *voluntary* it is "not beyond the parent's control" and thus children who suffer from persistent and voluntary abuse by their parents can not be protected from prospective abuse. (DCF Jurisdiction Brief p. 4, 6) Such an interpretation of Gaines does not comport with logic or reason.

Additionally, the Fifth District Court below had an alternative basis for remanding the case as to L.K: termination was not the least restrictive means of protecting him. (Slip opinion p. 8.) Moreover, the district court said, even a finding of dependency could not be supported since pursuant to F.S. § 39.41 the trial court should have considered providing services to the family or placing L.K. with an adult relative who was willing to care for the child before proceeding with a termination of parental rights. [The Department acknowledged no voluntary services had been provided to the family to protect L.K. (Slip Opinion p. 9)] Again, the sound decision by the Fifth District Court does not conflict with any other district court opinion or one from this Court. Ergo, there is no grounds for this Court to invoke discretionary jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

The case at bar does not expressly and directly conflict with Padgett v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 577 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1991). Rather, the lower tribunal agreed with the Padgett holding and decided the lower case consistently therewith. Since no conflict exists and since there is no other valid basis for jurisdiction, this Court should decline to review the case.